JAMIE RENEE BUCHANAN (Now McCraw)

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2008-TS-00037

ERIC BUCHANAN

APPELLEES

<u>CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS</u>

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible conflicts, disqualifications or recusal:

1. Jamie Renee Buchanan (Now McCraw)

Appellant

2. Eric Buchanan Elizabeth "Liz" Thornhill

Appellee

Joseph L. Turney
 716 Main Street
 Columbia, MS 39429

Attorney for Appellant

4. Renee McBride Porter
Porter Law Firm, P.A.
P.O. Box 982

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the lower Court erred in failing to follow the recommendation of the Guardian Ad Litem by granting paramount physical custody of the minor child with a third party rather than the natural parent when no determination of current unfitness of the natural parent has been made and where the natural parent has not voluntarily relinquished her custody to a third party?
- 2. Whether the lower court erred in failing to award attorney's fees and cost from grandparent, allow the Guardian Ad Litem to be paid from the funds held for the benefit of the minor child, and then assessing the Guardian Ad Litem's fees equally against the parties without regard to the financial ability of the parties?

STATEMENT OF CASE

On December 4, 2007, the lower court entered a Final Judgment, having found a material change in circumstances had occurred, and vested joint legal custody of Ashton Renee Buchanan, in Mary Elizabeth "Liz" Thornhill and Jamie Renee Buchanan McCraw with primary physical custody being vested in Mary Elizabeth "Liz" Thornhill.

The Appellant, Jamie Renee Buchanan McCraw (hereinafter "natural mother"), is the natural mother of Ashton Renee Buchanan, who is ten years old having been born on October 21, 1997. The Appellee, Mary Elizabeth "Liz" Thornhill (hereinafter "paternal grandmother"), is the paternal grandmother of Ashton and Eric Buchanan's mother. Eric Buchanan is Ashton's natural father, but is out of the picture due to his indictment, conviction and incarceration in the Mississippi Department of Corrections on a drug offense and never served nor joined in this cause of action.

An agreement was reached on July 26, 2006, which placed paramount physical custody in the natural mother with joint legal custody in the natural mother and paternal grandmother and the paternal grandmother receiving visitation. On September 28, 2006, the instant matter ensued. The paternal grandmother filed suit for numerous allegations of contempt and for further modification of the custody arrangement seeking once again full custody of Ashton. The natural mother answered asking for attorney's fees and cost as a defense and counter-claimed for full custody. A Guardian Ad Litem was appointed and a hearing was held in September 2007.

The natural mother contends that the rights of the natural parent to custody of a minor child supercede the rights of the paternal grandparent where there has been no finding of current unfitness, neglect, or abandonment and where she, as the natural parent,

has not voluntarily relinquished her custodial rights. The natural mother also contends that the lower court erred by not ordering her attorney's fees and cost be paid by the paternal grandmother based upon undue financial hardship, the fees associated with the work of the Guardian Ad Litem should have been ordered paid from the estate of the minor child, and that the lower court further erred in not taking into consideration the financial ability of the parties to pay.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The issues presented here are simple. Appellant, the natural mother, is the mother of the minor child, Ashton Renee Buchanan, and as such, she is entitled to retain custody of her daughter. The natural parent presumption is still alive and well in Mississippi and should be adhered to in this case. At no point during the life of this child has the natural mother voluntarily relinquished physical custody to a third party and, therefore, the natural parent presumption rules in this case. Additionally, the court appointed Guardian Ad Litem recognized that the natural parent presumption was valid and noted that clear and convincing evidence was not present to warrant custody be taken from the natural mother. Other than determining the natural mother is financially poor and not highly educated, at no time did the lower court determine that the natural mother was currently unfit or that she had abandoned the child, which is necessary in order to defeat the natural parent presumption.

The other issue presented herein deals with money and the inability of one to pay over another. The lower court ignored the natural mother's pled request for attorney's fees and cost from the paternal grandmother, despite its being aware of undue financial hardship suffered by the natural mother in this cause, and the lower court vehemently

rebuked a later request by the natural mother for attorney's fees and cost made in chambers.

Furthermore, the lower court appointed a GAL in this matter to review the case and make recommendations as to what should be done with custody. The GAL carried out his duties beautifully and now looks to be paid for his services. Additionally, the lower court in this matter had established a Guardianship for the estate of the minor child where proceeds from Social Security checks which the minor child receives are deposited. The natural mother contends that the GAL's fee should be paid out of this account, in that the GAL was hired for the benefit of the minor child and the monies are for her benefit. However, the lower court did not accept this recommendation and assessed the fees against the parties, with each party paying one half of the total fee. Further, the lower court failed to take into account the financial ability of the parties when making its assessment, as required by this Court, and said assessment places an undue burden on the natural mother and her family.

ARGUMENT

1. Whether the lower court erred in failing to follow the recommendation of the Guardian Ad Litem by granting paramount physical custody of the minor child with a third party rather than the natural parent when no determination of current unfitness of the natural parent has been made and where the natural parent has not voluntarily relinquished her custody to a third party?

The issue of natural parents presumption is well settled in Mississippi law. As the Court in *Sellers v. Sellers*, 638 So.2d 481, 484 (Miss. 1994) stated:

In custody battles involving a natural parent and a third party, it is presumed that a child's best interest will be served by placement in the custody of his or her natural parent, as against any third party. In order to overcome this presumption there must be a clear showing that the natural parent has 1) abandoned the child; 2) the conduct of the parent is so immoral as to be detrimental to the child; or 3) that the parent is unfit mentally or otherwise to

have custody. Id. at 484 (citing Keely v. Keely, 495 So.2d 452 (Miss. 1986)).

Furthermore, the Court in *In re the Custody of M.A.G*, 859 So.2d 1001, 1004 (Miss. 2003) stated that "[c]learly... a finding of unfitness is necessary to award custody to a third party against a natural parent and must be done before any analysis using the *Albright* factors to determine the best interests of the child." *Id.* In the instant case, the lower court made no finding of current unfitness of the natural parent when it decided to vest paramount physical custody of the minor child with the paternal grandmother over the natural mother.

Prior to this ruling, the natural mother was the primary physical custodian of the minor child with the paternal grandmother receiving visitation. The lower court noted in its Memorandum Opinion on Pages 4 - 5 that "[t]his contest is not the usual one between two parents, but rather is essentially one between one parent, Jamie, the mother of the child, and Liz. the paternal grandmother of the child, so that it is not entirely settled that the Albright factors totally apply, but certainly enter into the treatment of the issue and to some extent are utilized by the Court." Id. The lower court then proceeded in error, despite its ruling otherwise at trial, to review and consider the extensive and irrelevant history between the parties prior to the July 26, 2006, Judgment. Trial Transcript page 238. The lower court then arbitrarily weighed the Albright factors with preference like consideration against the natural mother for the paternal grandmother concluding that the paternal grandmother should have paramount physical custody. However, at no time did the lower court make a sufficiently supported fact-based determination that the natural mother was currently unfit to parent the minor child or that she had abandoned the child since the July 26, 2006. Agreed Order. The lower court further noted that the Guardian Ad Litem in this case supported the natural mother as to retaining paramount physical custody, but the lower court decided not to follow the GAL's recommendation, without explanation.

The Mississippi Supreme Court in *Grant v. Martin*, 757 So.2d 264 (Miss. 2000), stated that there is a presumption in Mississippi that it is in the child's best interest to remain with his/her natural parent(s). Where the natural parent has not voluntarily relinquished custody of a child it must be shown that the natural parent has either "(1) abandoned the child, or (2) the conduct of the parent is so immoral (as) to be detrimental to the child, or (3) the parent is unfit mentally or otherwise to have the custody of his or her child." *Id.* at 265. In the case at hand, none of those factors are present. Further, in the case of *Thornhill v. Van Dan*, 918 So.2d 725 (Miss. 2005), the Court established a new standard and held "that a natural parent who voluntarily relinquished custody of a minor child through a court of competent jurisdiction has forfeited the right to rely on the existing natural parent presumption." *Id.* at 731 - 732. Those cases can be easily distinguished from the case at hand.

In *Grant* the parents had given full custody of the minor child to the paternal grandparents and had shown no interest in the activities or life of that minor child until the natural mother re-married and decided to seek custody back from the grandparents. That is not the case at bar. Prior to the order from which the natural mother appeals, she and the paternal grandmother shared legal custody of the minor child with the natural mother retaining full physical custody of the minor and the paternal grandmother having scheduled visitation. Then in late 2006, the natural father, apparently while incarcerated, and paternal grandmother began to seek full permanent and legal custody of the child. The natural mother has been and continues to be an active part of the minor child's life, and until the

most recent ruling of the lower court, was the primary custodian. While, it is true that the natural mother allowed the paternal grandmother to share legal custody of the minor child and to have visitation, this was done to allow the child the opportunity to be a part of her father's family in that her father was and continues to be incarcerated on a drug related conviction and is unavailable to parent himself. At no point during the life of the minor child did the natural mother intend or agree to relinquish her parental rights.

Additionally, in response to the allegations brought by the paternal grandmother, the lower court appointed a Guardian Ad Litem to represent the minor child. The recommendation of the GAL was as follows:

The undersigned respectfully requests and recommends that His Honor give consideration to the point outline in this Report, as well as his Preliminary Report of August 31, 2007, and from which the following conclusions and expressions are presented, which directly apply to the placement, custody and visitation issues of Ashton, namely:

That paramount, physical custody of Ashton remain with her mother, Jamie, with liberal, structured visitation be afforded to Liz Thornhill, so long as Ashton continues professional counseling through Pine Belt Mental Healthcare Resources, and that the recommendations of said professionals be strictly followed by the Thornhills and Buchanans. In that Ashton enjoys Church, frequent Sunday visitation with Liz Thornhill be strongly encouraged. (Emphasis original.)

This recommendation is made primarily in that clear and convincing evidence was not presented to support the fact that a parent's right to raise her child is superior to others, unless to not modify custody would be detrimental to the child's welfare. Given that the complaints about Jamie and her parenting history are based on innuendo and conjecture, and denied by Ashton at most every turn, coupled with the weight of such items, the GAL is not comfortable recommending that Ashton be removed by Court Order at this time. *Final Report of Guardian Ad Litem*, Paragraph Titled Recommendations of GAL, Page 10.

And while the Chancellor notes that the Guardian Ad Litem recommended that the minor child remain with the natural mother, he opted not to follow that recommendation without

explanation. In *Potter v. Greene*, 2008 MSCA 2006-CA-01009 - 011508, (January 15, 2008), this court noted that "[w]hile a chancellor is in no way bound by a guardian's recommendations, a summary of these recommendations in addition to his reasons for not adopting the recommendations is required in the chancellor's findings of fact and conclusions of law." *Id.* Paragraph 10 (citing *Floyd v. Floyd*, 949 So.2d 26,29 (¶8) (Miss. 2007).

It is apparent from the reports submitted by the GAL that he has spent significant time with the parties and has heard all of the allegations, which he then investigated, and from his own independent investigation has determined that not only does the natural mother have a paramount right to custody, but it is not in the best interest of the child that she be removed from the home at this time.

2. Whether the lower Court erred in failing to award attorney's fees and cost from grandparent, allow the Guardian Ad Litem to be paid from the funds held for the benefit of the minor child, and then assessing the Guardian Ad Litem's fees equally against the parties, without regard to the financial ability of the parties?

With the filing of a lawsuit by a grandparent against a parent and an appointment of a Guardian Ad Litem come the extensive costs associated with the work performed. In the case at hand, the paternal grandmother, Appellee, filed a large number of unfounded claims which resulted in extensive attorney's fees and cost for the natural mother, Appellant, to defend against. However, from the beginning the lower court unequivocally would not consider the natural mother's request.

Furthermore, in this case at hand the Guardian Ad Litem submitted a total bill in the amount of \$4500.00, of which \$1000 had previously been paid by the paternal grandmother and \$400.00 had been paid by the natural mother, leaving a balance of

\$3100.00 due and payable. At the time of submitting the final report the GAL asked the Court to order the natural mother to pay an additional \$600.00 to make the payments of the two parties equal and then have the balance of \$2500.00 paid from the estate of the minor child. The lower Court makes no mention of the request of the GAL regarding the outstanding balance owed, but rules instead that "[t]he remaining balance owed to Mr. Johnson is to be paid as follows: Liz Thornhill is assessed and shall remit the sum of \$1,250.00 to Mr. Johnson and Jamie Renee Buchanan (now McCraw) is assessed and shall remit the sum of \$1,850.00 to Mr. Johnson." Final Judgment, Page 4, Paragraph VII. Since the assessment by the lower court, the GAL has proceeded with a contempt action against the natural mother despite her unequivocal inability to pay.

This Court has held on numerous occasions that it is within the discretion of the lower court as to the assessment of fees and cost. Yet the Court continues to hold that "[t]he chancery court is charged to give adequate consideration to the "financial abilities" of the parties to pay any assessed fees, and then how should same be apportioned, if any." In the Matter of the Adoption of K.M.J. and E.S.J., Minor Childrend, Mississippi Department of Human Services v. W.A., T.A., D.J.J. and A.J.A.J., 758 So.2d 402 (Miss. 2000) at 404. Furthermore, the statute regarding the appointment of guardians indicates that fees should be paid from the estate of the guardian. See, M.C.A. § 93-13-1, et.seq.

In the case at bar, the natural mother is of limited means which was made a significant issue in this cause of action. She has two other small children and is a low wage earner. The paternal grandmother is more established and capable of paying reasonable attorney's fees and cost, including the full amount owed to the GAL. Furthermore, the minor child receives a monthly check from Social Security, which is

deposited into an account for her benefit. The natural mother would state that the appointment of the GAL was for the benefit of the minor child and that the GAL fees should be paid from said account rather than place a burden on either of the parties, especially the natural mother when she has no means whereby to pay the assessed amount. The GAL notes in his report that the natural mother is less educated and less financially capable of paying the sums owed to the GAL.

CONCLUSION

The mother, Appellant, contends that the lower court erred in this matter, when without a finding of current unfitness, it removed the minor child from the paramount physical custody of the mother. Further, the lower court erred in failing to follow the recommendation of the GAL or at the very least to explain its reasoning for its decision. The GAL has spent more time and energy on this matter and is more familiar with the parties than the lower court, who only sees what is presented to it in court and as such, the GAL is in a much better position to determine the best interest of the minor child. The court gives no explanation as to why it chose not to follow the GAL recommendations, but merely states in its Memorandum Opinion that it "declines to follow the ultimate recommendation as to custody offered by the Guardian Ad Litem." See Memorandum Opinion, Page 8, Paragraph 13.

Additionally, the mother contends that her attorney's fees and cost should be paid by the paternal grandmother and the remaining GAL fees should be paid out of the estate of the minor child. Said monies are for the benefit of the minor child and should be used for such. The lower court herein makes no mention of the recommendation of the GAL to have some of the fees paid from the estate of the minor, nor does it consider the "financial"

abilities" of the parties to pay the fees, as required by this Court, when assessing said fees. The mother would contend that the paternal grandmother is in a much stronger financial position than herself and that payment of the assessed fees would create an additional undue hardship on her and her family. Further, the mother would contend that the money is readily available in the estate of the minor child and that the GAL was employed to protect the best interest of the minor and therefore should be paid from said funds.