2008-CA-00037 C

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-TS-00037

JAMIE RENEE BUCHANAN (now McGRAW)

APPELLANT

VERSUS

ERIC BUCHANAN

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible conflicts, disqualifications or recusal:

1.	Jamie Renee Buchanan (Now McCraw)	Appellant
2.	Eric Buchanan Elizabeth "Liz" Thornhill	Appellees

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

i

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. The Chancellor will not be overturned unless he made a decision that was in manifest error.

The law is clear that a Chancellor is vested with great authority to rule as he deems necessary in a domestic relations case, and that further his decision will not be overturned unless he is in manifest error. The court in Pearson v. Pearson, 761 So. 2d 157 (Miss. 2000) stated "Our scope of review in domestic relations matters is limited by our familiar substantial evidence/manifest error rule." Magee v. Magee, 661 So. 2d 1117, 1122 (Miss. 1995). " This Court will not disturb a chancellor's findings unless manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or if the chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard" See Johnson v. Johnson, 650 So. 2d 357 (Miss. 1994). See also McEwen v. McEwem, 631 So. 2d 821, 823 (Miss. 1994). The only way an appellate court can reverse a chancellor's ruling of fact is when there is not "substantial, credible evidence" to justify his findings. The Court referenced Parsons v. Parsons, 678 So. 2d 701,703 (Miss. 1996), saying the award on appeal will not be disturbed unless it is found to be against the overwhelming weight of the evidence or manifestly in error. The court in Carr v. Carr, 480 So. 2d 1120 (Miss. 1985) stated that "Findings of fact made by a chancellor may not be set aside or disturbed on appeal unless manifestly wrong; this is not whether the finding relates to evidentiary fact questions, or to ultimate fact questions" Tucker v. Tucker, 453 So. 2d 1294 (Miss. 1984). The Court went on to conclude that if there is evidence in the record that support the chancellor's finding of fact, then the finding should not be disturbed. "The Court is bound by the findings unless it can be said with a reasonable certainty that those findings were manifestly wrong and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence." Torrence v. Moore, 455 So. 2d 778 (Miss. 1984).

"An appellate court is not at liberty to overturn decisions of the chancellor unless they are

manifestly in error." Devereaux v. Devereaux, 493 So. 2d. 1310 (Miss. 1986). The Devereaux court stated again that they would not reverse the chancellor's finding of facts on contradictory testimony unless it is manifestly wrong. Again the law is that "[t]his Court will not disturb the factual findings of a chancellor when supported by substantial evidence unless it can say with reasonable certainty that the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or applied an erroneous legal standard." Morgan v. West, 812 so.2d 987, 990 (Miss. 2002); Cummings v. Benderman, 681 So.2d 97, 100 (Miss. 1996). Further, in order to disturb the findings of a chancellor this court must find that the chancellor has abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong or has made a finding which was clearly erroneous. See <u>Bank of Miss. V. Hollingsworth</u>, 609 So.2d 422 (Miss. 1992). The chancellor's determination regarding the weight and credibility of witnesses is given deference when there is conflicting testimony. See. <u>Scott Addison Constr., Inc. v. Lauderdale County</u> <u>Sch. Sys.</u>, 789 So.2d 771 (Miss. 2001); Murphy v. Murphy, 631 so.2d 812 (Miss. 1994); Culbreath v. Johnson, 427 so.2d. 705 (Miss. 1983).

į.

i

I

In this case this matter was tried for three days and the record is full of evidence to support the Court's findings. The Court found that "Jamie's life from the time she and Eric were together, both before and after their marriage, has been marked with a rather tumultuous environment lacking in stability, demonstration of determination and in strength of character. The result has been exposure of Ashton to activities and circumstances not conducive to her best interest and welfare. Instances of inappropriate sexual behavior by Jamie in the presence of the child, engaging in drug use even with Eric before their separation, cohabitation with one or more persons to whom she was not married, and all that at times when Ashton was in her care and was present, demonstrate a lack of thoughtful maturity

and responsibility requisite to the proper care, training and upbringing of a child, and particularly up to the present age of Ashton." Memorandum Opinion, pate 6). "The instance of Jamie shooting and killing Ashton's pet dog without explanation whatsoever to Ashton was an extremely traumatic event for Ashton, and demonstrates Jamie's lack of mature concern for Ashton's emotional well being. Repeated reports by others of instances of Ashton's appearing at school, arriving at Liz's home, and other locations, all in unkempt condition as to clothing, and with body odor all lend credence to the Court's finding and opinion that Dr. Galloways' stated opinion that Jamie has a difficult time being a parent is certainly correct." (Memorandum Opinion, page 7.

Before this court can disturb the findings of the Chancery Court it must find that the chancellor has abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong or has made a finding which was clearly erroneous, none of which are present in the case at hand. It is clear from the ruling that the Chancellor looked at all the evidence presented in this matter and made his determination based on the best interest of the child.

II. The Ruling is supported by the evidence submitted at trial.

The record is complete with information from witnesses who testified and supported the ruling of Court.

A. Dr. John Pat Galloway testified:

ţ

1. That in Mrs. McCraw's home the child experiences problems regarding her sexuality and specifically Dr. Galloway stated that in the home of the Appellant (Jamie) the minor child is viewed and treated as a sexual perpetrator. "She's viewed as a perpetrator." ((Record, page 9, line 16 and 17). 2. That in the care of her mother the minor child has "an inordinate amount of fear" (Record page 10, line 20) whereas in contrast to living with her grandmother the child is at ease.

3. Dr. Galloway testified that Ashton was careful around her mother to not say things that would bring punishment from the step-father, and that her fear was not normal fear. (Record page 13, line 6).

B. Jamie McCraw:

.

ī

1. Jamie McCraw admitted that she knew that there was a court order providing that she was to deposit funds received by Ashton into a bank account but that despite the court order she called social security and had the checks sent to her. (Record page 61, lines 11 through 13).

2. Jamie admitted that her daughter when living with Liz Thornhill had perfect attendance and A's and B's but that now after moving in with her mother and on April 19, 2007, Ashton did not have A's and B's and actually had a D in Spelling (Record page 70, line 21).

3. Jamie admitted that Ashton went to school with no panties on. (Record page 80, line 10).

4. Jamie admitted that while Ashton had been in her care she had vaginal warts now, and that Ms. Thornhill the Appellee herein, had taken Jamie to the doctor to have the warts taken care of. (Record pages 83 and 84). Jamie admitted that this vaginal wart situation had not occurred with Jamie was with her grandmother, Liz Thornhill.

5. Jamie admitted that she was hospitalized for chemical poison while Ashton was in her care and placed in intensive care. (Record page 85, line 25).

6. Jamie admitted that she had shot Ashton's pet dog (Record 88, line 16).

C. Liz Thornhill:

1. Liz Thornhill testified that when Jamie came to her home she would have dirty underwear and be unkempt. (Record page 134).

2. Liz Thornhill testified that Ashton's Uncle, A.J., has abused Ashton (which was confirmed by Dr. Galloway), and that Jamie allows Ashton to continue to stay alone in the home with A.J. (Record page 152, line 16.)

3. Liz Thornihill testified that she only kept Ashton out of school for two days, and during those missed days Liz made sure Ashton completed her assignments; she also checked Ashton out early one day for a dentist appointment. (Record page 173.)

D. Robert R. Thornhill

.

ţ.

ŧ

ι.

1. Robert Thornhill testified that Ashton has had bruises when she arrived at their house. Ashton told him one time it was from her step daddy when he beat her and drug her down the hall, and the other was from her mama. (Record page 193)

Robert Thornhill testified that he picks Ashton and takes her home now
 because his wife and sister-in-law were threatened by Jamie, in contrast to Ashton missing thirty-five
 (35) days while in Jamie's care (see Exhibit 7). (Record 196)

3. Robert Thornhill testified that every time he picks Ashton up on Sunday and most of the time when he picks her up on Wednesday, she has a very strong stink and smell. On one occasion Ashton had dog waste on her feet and shoes. Jamie made Ashton wear soaking wet shoes on a cold day as well. (Record page 197)

E. Kathey Perry

.

1. Kathey Perry testified that when she would go with her sister, Liz Thornhill, to pick Ashton up her condition was always "very deplorable, very dirty nasty, reeked of pungent odor, hair unbrushed, teeth unbrushed." Ashton would have sores all over her from flea and ant bits. (Record page 200)

2. Kathey Perry testified that Ashton had told her the bruises on her body were from her stepdaddy and her mother hit her. Her stepfather hit her on and on. (Record page 201)..

The record establishes that in the short time Ashton was returned to Jamie's care her grades fell, she was absent 35 days from school, she had vaginal warts, her pet dog was killed by her mother, she was abused by her mother and step-father, she was in an unkempt situation, she was allowed to go to school without underware on. That the above evidences the fact that a material and substantial change had occurred and supports this Court's decision.

F. Trial Exhibits. There are some 25 trial exhibits including the Pine Belt Records of Ashton and her school records. These exhibits confirm Ashton's fear at her mother's home, confirm Ashton's significant reduction in her grades, and confirm that Ashton when from perfect attendance with her grandmother to missing 35 days when she lived with her mother.

III. The Court must look at the best interest of a child before making any child custody decision.

As this Court stated in <u>Riley v. Doerner</u>, 677 So.2d 740 (Miss. 1996) "...we take this opportunity to clarify that a chancellor is *never* obliged to ignore a child's best interest in weighing a custody change; in fact, a chancellor is bound to consider the child's best interest above all else." <u>Id</u>. at

744. (Emphasis original.) The <u>Riley</u> court went on to state "[a]bove all, in modification cases, as in original awards of custody, we never depart from our polestar consideration: the best interest and welfare of the child." Id. quoting <u>Ash v. Ash</u>, 622 So.2d 1264, 1266 (Miss. 1993)(citing <u>Marascalco</u> <u>v. Marascalco</u>, 445 So.2d 1380, 1382 (Miss. 1984)). See also, <u>Albright</u>, 437 So.2d at 1005.

The Chancellor in this matter made a very long and detailed finding regarding the welfare and best interest of the minor child in this case. The Chancellor found that it was in the best interest of the minor child to vest custody in Liz Thornhill.

IV. The Court can award custody to a third party in certain situations.

i

L.

As this court noted in <u>Barnett v. Oathout</u>, 2001-CA-01309-SCT (Miss. 10/30/03), in addressing the natural parent presumption, this Court noted that "it is presumed that the best interests of the child will be preserved by it remaining with its parents or parent. In order to overcome this presumption there must be a clear showing that the parent has (1) abandoned the child, or (2) the conduct of the parent is so immoral (as) to be detrimental to the child, or (3) the parent is unfit mentally or otherwise to have the custody of his or her child." <u>Grant v. Martin</u>, 757 so.2d 264, 265 (Miss. 2000)(quoting <u>McKee v. Flynt</u>, 630 So.2d 44, 47 (Miss. 1993).

In this case Jamie agreed for Liz to have custody of her minor child by entry of the Order on June 26, 2003. Jamie has now forfeited her right to rely upon the natural parent presumption. <u>Grant v. Martin</u>, 757 So.2d 264 (Miss. 2000) held that " that a natural parent who voluntarily relinquishes custody of a minor child, through a court of competent jurisdiction, has forfeited the right to rely on the existing natural parent presumption." The Court went on to discuss "This new rule not only reaffirms that the polestar consideration in all child custody cases is the best interest of the child, but also gives the chancellor the authority to make a "best interest" decision in voluntary relinquishment cases without being fettered by the presumption in favor of natural parents. Grant v. Martin, 757 So. 2d 264 (Miss. 2000).

V. Whether the lower Court erred in failing to follow the Mississippi of the Guardian Ad Litem by granting paramount physical custody of the minor child with a third party rather than the natural parent when no determination of current unfitness of the natural parent has been made and where the natural parent has not voluntarily relinquised her custody to a third party?

In this case the appointment of a guardian ad litem was not mandatory and was made by the Court by it's Order dated January 10, 2007. (Record Excerpt page 35). That thereafter and after a Motion for Emergency Custody was filed by the Appellee alleging that it was urgent that custody be modified and vested in Appellee, Liz Thornhill, the Court set this matter for trial on an early date and ordered that Dr. John Pat Galloway evaluate this matter. (Record Excerpt, page 46).

Dr. John Pat Galloway testified that Ashton should be with her grandmother.

This Court in the case of Tanner v. Tanner, No. 2006-CA-00423-COA.

Court of Appeals of Mississippi, is analogous as the appointment of a guardian ad litem was not necessary in that case. The Court in <u>Tanner</u> found that the appointment of a guardian ad litem was not mandatory but was merely to assist the Chancellor so the Chancellor was not obligated to follow the guardian ad litem's report. In this case the appointment of a guardian ad litem was not necessary but merely to assist the Chancellor so the Court was not obligated to follow the dictates of the guardian ad litem.

i

1.

1

This Court has made it clear that only when the appointment of the guardian is mandatory and the chancellor disagrees with the guardian's report we will require the chancellor to summarize the guardian's recommendation and why the chancellor chose to disregard it. See <u>Ponder v. Ponder</u>, 943 So.2d 716, 720(¶ 16) (Miss.Ct.App. 2006); <u>Balius v. Gaines</u>, 914 So.2d 300, 305-06(¶ 13) (Miss.Ct.App. 2005); <u>Passmore v. Passmore</u>, 820 So.2d 747, 751(¶ 13) (Miss.Ct.App. 2002).

If the appointment of a guardian ad litem is deemed by this Court to be necessary then the Chancellor complied with the dictates of this Court in that the Chancellor did include a summary review of the recommendations of the guardian ad litem in his findings. <u>S.N.C. v. J.R.D.</u>, Jr., [755 So.2d 1077, 1082 (Miss. 2000)]. The Court's findings did include the reasons for rejecting the guardian ad litem's findings and that he followed the findings of Dr. John Pat Galloway. The Court is not bound to follow findings of a guardian ad litem. The court has found "While a chancellor is in no way bound by a guardian's recommendation, a summary of these recommendations in addition to his reasons for not adopting the recommendations is required in the chancellor's findings of fact and conclusions of law." <u>Hensarling v. Hensarling</u>, 824 So.2d 583, 587 (Miss. 2002).

This Court in it's findings finds that "The Court has given careful attention to the evidence before it. The reports and opinions of Dr. Galloway and of the Guardian Ad Litem, James D. Johnson, Esquire, have been scrutinized and considered throughly, and the Court notes that there are differences of assessment and emphasis between the two, as well as ultimate recommendation by each, that of Dr. Galloway favoring Liz and that of Mr. Johnson favoring Jamie insofar as dominate physical custody is concerned. The Court, upon its most serious consideration and evaluation declines to follow

the ultimate recommendation as to custody offered by the Guardian Ad Litem." (Record Excerpt page 64).

The Court therefore heard and considered the report of the guardian ad litem but did not follow the same. The Court was correct and should be affirmed as the Court followed the procedure set forth by this Honorable Court regarding guardian ad litems.

VI. Whether the lower Court erred in failing to award attorney's fees and cost from grandparent, allow the Guardian Ad Litem to be paid from the funds held for the benefit of the minor child, and then assessing the Guardian Ad Litem's fees equally against the parties without regard to the financial ability of the parties?

Jamie did not present her financial situation to the Court nor did she put a financial declaration into the record. For her to now complain that the Court did not consider her financial ability should not be well taken as the Court was not presented evidence as to her financial ability. The case of <u>McIntosh v. McIntosh</u>, 977 So. 2d 1257 (Miss., App. 2008) is a recent case which affirms the long standing rule that you must raise issues at the trial level to perfect a right to appeal. The <u>Mcintosh</u> case provided "Therefore, we find that this issue is procedurally barred because it was not first raised at the trial level. <u>Brown v. Thompson</u>, 927 So.2d 733, 738 (¶ 16) (Miss. 2006) (citing <u>Scott v. State</u>, 878 So.2d 933, 963 (¶ 81) (Miss. 2004)). A chancellor should only grant attorney's fees in situations where the requesting party can establish an inability to pay. Id. (citing <u>Dunn v. Dunn</u>, 609 So.2d 1277, 1287 (Miss. 1992)). Jamie did not establish this inability and this issue is not properly before this Court.

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure No. 17 provides: "(d) Guardian ad litem; how